FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/21/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/20/2024 4:39 PM

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Case #: 1031912

Supreme Court No.

No. 85225-6

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESA MANAGEMENT, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

ALLEN WATKINS and JANIS CLARK,

Respondents.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW BY ESA MANAGEMENT, LLC

Daniel A. Brown, WSBA #22028 Joseph A. Toups, WSBA #57024 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380 Ph: (206) 628-6600 Fx: (206) 628-6611 *Attorneys for Defendant ESA Management, LLC* 

#

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Did the Court of Appeals err in not determining whether any current actual possessor of the subject real property—a hotel room—is a necessary, indispensable party under Court Rule 19?

(2) Is a current actual possessor of the subject real property a necessary and indispensable party under Court Rule19 and due process of law?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. The Parties and Claims Asserted.

ESA owns and manages a hotel property in Tukwila, Washington. Appellants-Respondents Allen Watkins and Janis Clark's ("Respondents") were hotel guests at the property and fell substantially behind on their rent payments. CP 38. ESA initiated an unlawful detainer action, however, later concluded that Respondents had abandoned the property. CP 37. It then no longer pursued its unlawful detainer action.

Respondents initiated a forcible entry and detainer action under RCW 59.12 *et seq.* against ESA on January 5, 2023. CP 1-10. On January 23, 2023, Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss the complaint with an accompanying declaration, stating under penalty of perjury that there are new guests in Respondents' former hotel room who had been there several weeks. CP 33-38. On February 1, 2023, the Commissioner dismissed the complaint after conducting a hearing on ESA's motion to dismiss. CP 48. The trial court then denied Respondents' motion to revise the Commissioner's order of dismissal, incorporating the Commissioner's findings and conclusions. CP 49-50.

### 2. <u>Court of Appeals Decisions.</u>

Appellants/Respondents appealed the trial court ruling, and on appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed the trail court's dismissal order and remanded the case for further proceedings, issuing an opinion on March 25, 2024. In its Response brief, ESA argued, in part, that pursuant to CR 19, the current actual possessor of the real property at issue is a necessary, indispensable party to the action. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals determined under RCW 59.12.060, not CR 19, that "appellants must join a new tenant of the unit (if any) to maintain their forcible entry and detainer action."<sup>1</sup> ESA's CR 19 argument was not addressed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Watkins v. ESA Mgmt., LLC</u>, 545 P.3d 356, <u>opinion superseded on</u> <u>reconsideration</u>, 547 P.3d 271 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024), and <u>reconsideration</u> <u>granted</u>, <u>opinion withdrawn</u>, 85225-6-I, 2024 WL 1905055 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 29, 2024), <u>withdrawn from bound volume</u> (Apr. 29, 2024).

Respondents filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the March 25, 2024 opinion, arguing in part that the Court erred by "concluding that any hotel guest that exists after remand is a necessary party under RCW 59.12.060" because "RCW 59.12.060 only requires a tenant and subtenant, if any, to be a necessary party when they are in actual possession at the time the complaint is filed." Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration filed April 15, 2024 at 6. On April 29, 2023, following Respondents' Motion for Reconsideration, the Court of Appeals concluded "that any tenant or subtenant in the actual occupation of the premises when appellants' complaint was filed is a necessary party under RCW 59.12.060 and must be joined if they assert a right to possess the property." Appendix A at 12.

### V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be granted by the Washington Supreme Court:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the Constitution of the United States is involved and must be addressed by this Court.

Specifically, though briefed extensively by both parties in this appeal and assigned error (*see Brief of Appellants* at 40; *Brief of Respondent* at 36-40), the issue of joinder under CR 19 of the current actual possessor of the real property at issue is unresolved. The current actual possessor of real property is a necessary and indispensable party under the rule because the failure to join the current possessor obviates their due process rights provided by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 3 of the Washington State Constitution.<sup>2</sup>

Here, it is manifest error to not consider the substantial, protected property interest of the current hotel guest – actual possession – in determining whether a party is necessary and indispensable under CR 19. Consequently, an open, litigated issue remains involving a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

A. <u>A current actual possessor of real property's due process</u> <u>rights are materially controverted if they are not joined in</u> <u>an action seeking restitution of real property.</u>

A significant issue of due process under the United States Constitution, the Washington State Constitution, as well as considerations pursuant Court Rule 19 exist here. "Due process

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "While we have repeatedly refused to consider errors raised for the first time on appeal, we will consider constitutional issues raised for the first time on appeal." *State v. Sauve*, 100 Wn.2d 84, 86–87, 666 P.2d 894, 896 (1983) (internal citations omitted). "RAP 2.5(a) reflects this view that a 'manifest error affecting a constitutional right' may be raised for the first time in an appellate court." *Id*.

of law as provided by the fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution and article 1, section 3 of the Washington State Constitution requires adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard prior to deprivation of a significant property interest." *Staley v. Staley*, 15 Wn. App. 254, 256–57, 548 P.2d 1097, 1099 (1976). The current guest in actual possession holds a significant property interest requiring notice and opportunity to be heard. CR 19 provides the procedure for affording that notice and opportunity to the actual possessor.

On remand, the trial court cannot order issuance of a writ of restitution without vitiating the due process rights of the current guest in actual possession. If any current guest is not joined, then the parties will have litigated the guest's rights without notice or opportunity to be heard. "The trial court could not enter any decree without affecting the rights of the successful party before the board of adjustment; and as such, he was an indispensable party to the review." *Andrus v. Snohomish Cnty.*, 8 Wn. App. 502, 509, 507 P.2d 898, 902 (1973). Complete relief cannot be obtained in the absence of a current guest because the guest's substantive rights cannot be affected by a decision of the trial court. Joinder of the current guest thus is not only necessary but also mandatory under CR 19 and due process of law afforded by both the Washington State Constitution and the United States Constitution.

If the trial court were to fail to order joinder on remand, then the Sheriff can evict that current guest without any prior notice or opportunity to be heard. The prejudice facing the current tenant is evident and substantial. The Court should find any current guest in actual possession to be a necessary and indispensable party and instruct the trial court to order joinder of any current guest in actual possession of the subject property.

B. <u>Court Rule 19 and due process require joinder of necessary</u> <u>and indispensable parties, such as a current guest in actual</u> <u>possession.</u>

To effectuate justice, Court Rule 19 provides an umbrella of protection to necessary and indispensable parties that the trial court must consider before effectuating judgment that would rob another tenant of his possessory rights and kick them and their personal property to the proverbial curb without any due process.<sup>3</sup>

Court Rule 19 addresses when joinder of absent parties is

needed for just adjudication. CR 19 provides in pertinent part

(emphasis added):

(a) Persons to be Joined if Feasible. A person who is subject to service of process and whose joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action shall be joined as a party in the action if

# (1) in the person's absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or

(2) the person claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in the person's absence may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Court Rule 19 provides wider protection, should the elements be of the rule be met, to current tenants in possession than RCW 59.12.060, which provides, in pertinent part, "No person other than the tenant of the premises, and subtenant, if there be one, in the actual occupation of the premises *when the complaint is filed*, need be made parties defendant in any proceeding under this chapter..."

(A) as a practical matter impair or impede the person's ability to protect that interest or

[...]

Consequently, to provide justice and in accordance with CR 19, the Court should find that any current tenant in possession is a necessary party under both or either CR 19(a)(1) and CR  $19(a)(2)^4$  – each providing separate, independent grounds for a finding that a party is "necessary." The elements of CR 19 necessarily involve analysis of due process of law afforded by the Constitution insofar as litigation would substantially affect the rights of the party not joined as well as affect the court's ability to provide complete relief.

1. <u>The trial court must order joinder of an</u> <u>indispensable party – the current guest in possession</u> <u>– pursuant to CR 19(a)(1).</u>

CR 19(a)(1) has been construed as requiring, subject to the other provisions of the rule, that a party must be joined when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This is regardless of whether they were living at the premises at the commencement of the litigation as contemplated by landlord tenant act. RCW 59.12.060.

complete relief cannot be granted in his absence. *Nolan v. Snohomish Cnty.*, 59 Wn. App. 876, 880, 802 P.2d 792, 794 (1990). Appellants here seek restoration to their former hotel room that a guest currently occupies (or any guest that may occupy that unit upon remand). However, the rights of the thencurrent guest cannot be affected by the court if the guest is not joined and provided due process.

Zoning and land use cases in which Washington courts have found the owner of the property affected by a land use decision are indispensable parties and are instructive here. "Numerous Washington decisions hold that the owner of property directly affected by a land use decision or a person with an interest in the property which is the subject of the land use decision is a party to be joined in writ proceedings involving that decision." *Crosby v. Cnty. of Spokane*, 137 Wn.2d 296, 305, 971 P.2d 32, 38 (1999). The landowner is an indispensable party in these cases because: [H]e is the person "most affected" in any review proceeding, the purpose of which is to invalidate or otherwise affect the use of his property. <u>A decision</u> <u>invalidating or modifying a land use ruling would</u> <u>not be binding upon the landowner if he is not a</u> <u>party.</u> The court would have no jurisdiction over him. It is thus a clear case where complete relief cannot be obtained in his absence because his substantive rights cannot be affected by the decision of the reviewing court.

Nolan, 59 Wn. App. at 880 (emphasis added).

Similarly, a current guest in possession of the subject property faces a ruling that may invalidate or otherwise affect that guest's right to possession and actual possession of the hotel room. Such a ruling would not be binding upon the current guest, and the court would have no jurisdiction over him insofar as removing them from the room. As such, complete relief cannot be granted to Plaintiff. However, without discussing and opining on the CR 19 issues squarely before the court, the Sheriff effectuates that person's dispossession of the property without notice or an opportunity to be heard. At the very least, the current tenant is a necessary party that must be joined if feasible. At most, the current guest is an indispensable party because the guest's right to possession and actual possession are litigated without him/her.

# 2. <u>Separately from CR 19(a)(1), any current guest is a</u> necessary party under CR 19(a)(2).

As held in *Burt v. Washington State Dept. of Corr.*, 168 Wn.2d 828, 833–34, 231 P.3d 191, 194 (2010), *as corrected* (Sept. 14, 2010) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original):

> CR 19 requires potentially necessary party to have an interest relating to the subject of the action. Once such an interest is established, the party must be "so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (A) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest...." CR 19(a)(2)(A) (emphasis added). Use of the term maysuggests a low standard that requires a showing of possibility that the failure to join will impair or impede the party's interest.

The standard of proof that an unjoined party is necessary to

current litigation is low.

To deserve protection under CR 19(a)(2), the "interest relating to the subject of the action," must be shown. As

demonstrated above, a current guest's possessory interest carries significant weight and is squarely at issue here. That guest will be the "most affected" by an adverse judgment here – thrown out into the street by the Sheriff without any notice that the parties litigated *the guest's* property rights, much less opportunity to protect their property right in court.

# 3. <u>Current guest(s) are necessary parties under CR</u> <u>19(a) and (b) and thus the Court must analyze</u> whether they may be feasibly joined upon remand.

If the absentees are "necessary," the court determines whether it is feasible to order the absentees' joinder. "If the interested party is necessary and is 'subject to service of process and [his or her] joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action,' the party in the action '*shall be joined*' by the court if feasible. *Burt*, 168 Wn.2d at 833–34 (quoting Court Rule 19) (emphasis in original).

The actual possessor of the subject property resides in the subject property located in King County and is consequently subject to service of process. Joinder of the actual possessor is feasible. The joinder will not conceivably destroy the court's jurisdiction. Although limited as summary proceedings, the trial court's jurisdiction is "confined to [possession] and the unlawful or forcible ouster or detention by defendant..." *Gore v. Altice*, 33 Wash. 335, 338, 74 P. 556, 557 (1903). The issue of possession is squarely at issue here, and a party with a right to that possession and in actual possession could not conceivably rob the trial court of jurisdiction.

Petitioner requests that the Court find that any current guest in actual possession is a necessary, indispensable party and instruct the trial court to order joinder order upon remand.

C. <u>This Petition concerns substantial matters of public</u> interest.

RAP 13.4(b)(4) provides the Court with authority to take up this petition because it "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Court Rule 19 incorporates due process into its analysis. Petitioner and Respondents both briefed this issue before the trial court and Court of Appeals, and yet, the issue remains untouched. The public has substantial interest and faith that issues presented to the court are resolved, or at least addressed. Here, resolution of the remaining issue would ensure public trust that substantial rights are considered by the courts when the issue is properly raised.

Moreover, resolving the issue of joinder, or providing guidance to the trial court, now promotes judicial efficiency and conserves judicial resources. The public and the Court have substantial interests in those efficiencies and resources. If left untouched, the issue will reappear in this case on remand and may even reappear on appeal should the parties hereto dispute the analysis of the trial court.

### VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Actual possession held by any current guest is a significant property interest requiring joinder. Their right to possession and actual possession cannot be litigated without any kind of notice or opportunity to be heard under due process and CR 19. The Court of Appeals thought it enough to leave the issue resting on RCW 59.12.060, but CR 19 provides the opportunity to supplement the statute to protect an interested third-party's *substantial* rights. The temporal limitation of RCW 59.12.060 is superfluous – a current occupant's actual possession or rights to possession are not changed by the mere passing of time without more. Both parties briefed this issue before the Court of Appeals, yet the issue remains.

ESA respectfully requests that the Court resolve this issue that will certainly reappear on remand. Specifically, ESA requests that the Court instruct the trial court that, on remand, any current guest in actual possession is a necessary and indispensable party to be joined pursuant due process of law and CR 19.

# RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 20th day of June,

# 2024.

I certify that this	s/Joseph A. Toups
document	Daniel A. Brown, WSBA #22028
contains 2,917	Joseph A. Toups, WSBA #57024
words in	
compliance with	WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC
RAP 18.17.	601 Union Street, Suite 4100
	Seattle, WA 98101-2380
	Ph. (206) 628-6600
	Fx: (206) 628-6611
	Email: dbrown@williamskastner.com
	jtoups@williamskastner.com