FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/22/2024 3:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1031912 Appellate Court No. 85225-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALLEN WATKINS and JANIS CLARK,

Respondents,

v.

ESA MANGEMENT, LLC,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Nancy Bradburn Johnson, Honorable Brian McDonald

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Edmund Witter, WSBA No. 52339 Yuan Ting, WSBA No. 52897 Christina Jaccard, WSBA No. 55592 Ashleen O'Brien, WSBA No. 58429

KING COUNTY BAR ASSOCIATION HOUSING JUSTICE PROJECT 1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 700 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (425) 270-7130

Attorneys for Respondents

I. Introduction

In this forcible entry and detainer case, Respondents Allen Watkins and Janis Clark allege that while Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark were temporarily away from home because of a family emergency, Petitioner ESA Management, LLC (ESA) illegally retook possession of the suite they had been renting at an Extended Stay America in Tukwila, removed all their possessions, and refused to let them back in. The Court of Appeals (Division One) reversed the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of ESA and remanded for further proceedings, holding that ESA's "entirely self-serving speculation and bald assertion" fell far short of showing as a matter of law that Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark had abandoned their unit and were no longer in possession at the time of ESA's entry. Watkins v. ESA Mgmt., LLC, 547 P.3d 271, 276 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024).

At the trial level, ESA had argued at a hearing on Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark's motion for a prejudgment writ of

restitution to be restored to their unit pending trial that the court could not grant such relief without joinder of the current occupant of the unit, as ESA had apparently rented Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark's suite to a new hotel guest. ESA did not ask the trial court to order joinder or argue that joinder was not feasible and dismissal of the case was warranted on that basis, and the trial court did not make any rulings on those issues. But since ESA raised the issue on appeal, arguing there was a necessary and indispensable party, and because the issue could recur on remand, the Court of Appeals addressed it and held that under RCW 59.12.060, a statute that was not raised or briefed by ESA, "any tenant or subtenant in the actual occupation of the premises when [Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark's] complaint was filed is a necessary party . . . and must be joined if they assert a right to possess the property." Watkins, 547 P.3d at 277-78. The Court of Appeals' opinion does not squarely address whether any occupant who entered the premises after the commencement of the case would be a necessary party.

ESA does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' holding that dismissal was erroneous or the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 59.12.060. Instead, ESA asks this Court to review: (1) "Did the Court of Appeals err in not determining whether any current actual possessor of the subject real property—a hotel room—is a necessary, indispensable party under Court Rule 19?" and (2) "Is a current actual possessor of the subject real property a necessary and indispensable party under Court Rule 19 and due process of law?" Pet. for Rev. at 1. (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals did not err by declining to reach an issue that has not yet been ruled on by the trial court, that may not arise on remand, and that requires consideration of issues that have never been briefed by the parties. The criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) are not satisfied, and this Court should decline to accept review to render an advisory opinion on issues that are undecided by any lower court, ill-defined by ESA, insufficiently developed, and largely theoretical at this point and that can and should be addressed in the trial court on remand as pertinent in this litigation.

II. Statement of the Case

Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark filed this forcible entry and detainer suit against ESA under RCW 59.12.010 and RCW 59.12.020, seeking a writ of restitution and monetary damages after ESA illegally locked them out of the suite in which they had been residing for several years and refused to restore them to possession. CP 1-10. Shortly after filing suit, Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark filed a motion for a prejudgment writ of restitution under RCW 59.12.090 to be restored to the property pending trial. CP 11-24. Instead of complying with the briefing schedule set by the court on that motion, ESA filed a motion to dismiss and noted it for hearing on the same day, arguing that Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark had abandoned their unit and therefore were not in possession of the property as required to obtain relief under RCW 59.12.010 and .020. CP 30-36. ESA relied on a declaration of its General Manager (GM) asserting that Mr.

Watkins and Ms. Clark abandoned the premises following a fight. CP 37-38. The GM's declaration also indicated that "there are now new guests in" the room. *Id.* But ESA did not urge dismissal of the action based on the new occupants or request that the court order joinder of the new occupants, and the GM's declaration did not indicate whether the new guests were occupying the unit at the time Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark filed their complaint or whether ESA rented out the room afterwards despite the pending suit. CP 30-38.

At the hearing on Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark's motion for a prejudgment writ of restitution, the commissioner heard oral argument on ESA's motion to dismiss and considered the declaration of ESA's GM. Without permitting Mr. Watkins or Ms. Clark to testify or submit any other evidence, the commissioner granted ESA's motion to dismiss and therefore did not rule on the motion for a writ of restitution or any other issues. Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed the order of dismissal and remanded for further proceedings. *Watkins*, 547 P.3d at 273. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court erred by (1) failing to give Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark a reasonable opportunity to present pertinent evidence and (2) granting ESA's motion even though ESA's declaration, "consisting entirely of self-serving speculation and bald assertion, [fell] well short of proving by uncontroverted facts that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether appellants abandoned the property" and the verified complaint set forth specific facts showing issues of material fact for trial. *Id.* at 273, 276.

ESA had argued in its appellate brief that the current occupant of Mr. Watkins and Ms. Clark's unit was a necessary and indispensable party under CR 19, and, concluding that the issue could recur on remand, the Court of Appeals exercised its discretion to reach the issue and hold that under RCW 59.12.060 (a statute governing necessary parties in forcible entry and detainer proceedings but not addressed in either party's briefing), "any tenant or subtenant in the actual occupation of the premises when appellants' complaint was filed is a necessary party ... and must be joined if they assert a right to possess the property." Id. at 277. The Court of Appeals remanded the matter "for further proceedings consistent with RCW 59.12.060 (if applicable)." Id. The Court of Appeals did not squarely interpret the application of RCW 59.12.060 to any guest ESA allowed to occupy the unit after the complaint in this case was filed, nor did the court address whether or how CR 19 applies notwithstanding RCW 59.12.060. ESA moved for reconsideration, asking the Court of Appeals to give additional guidance on remand and hold that any current guest is a necessary party under CR 19, but failing to meaningfully address the interplay of CR 19 and RCW 59.12.060. See generally Resp't's Mot. for Reconsideration. Switching positions from its Brief of Respondent, ESA argued in its motion for reconsideration that any current occupant was feasible to join (and was therefore not an indispensable party). Id. at 8-9. The court denied ESA's motion for reconsideration and ESA filed this petition for review. ESA does not seek this

Court's review of any of the Court of Appeals' holdings but instead argues that the Court of Appeals erred in not addressing whether any current occupant of the suite is a necessary and indispensable party under CR 19 and asks this Court to grant review to hold that any such occupant is a necessary and indispensable party under CR 19 and due process. *See* Pet. for Review at 1.

III. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied

A. The Court of Appeals did not err in declining to give additional guidance to the trial court about an issue that may or may not arise on remand and was not briefed by the parties.

ESA argues this Court's review is warranted because the Court of Appeals erred by not deciding whether any current guest is a necessary and indispensable party under CR 19 and "an open, litigated issue remains involving a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." Pet. for Review at 6. But the CR 19 issue and inextricable related issues have not been litigated at the trial level or fully briefed at the appellate level, and Washington appellate courts generally do not decide issues on which the trial court has not ruled, especially where the issue might be theoretical and has not been adequately developed. *See Drummond v. Bonaventure of Lacey, LLC*, 20 Wn. App. 2d 455, 457-58, 500 P.3d 198 (2021) (declining to review matters on which the trial court did not rule and which may never be pertinent in the case); *Kitsap Cnty. v. Smith*, 143 Wn. App. 893, 909, 180 P.3d 834 (2008) (declining to address issues because the trial court did not reach these issues and the record related to these issues is not adequately developed).

As an initial matter, ESA's petition fails to clearly identify the issues or scope of issues of which it seeks review, and its substantive argument is lacking and internally inconsistent. ESA asks this Court to simultaneously find that any current occupant is an indispensable party *and* that joinder of any current occupant is feasible and so the trial court must order joinder of any current occupant on remand. Pet. for Review at 14-15. These positions

are inconsistent; an absent party is only indispensable within the meaning of CR 19 if the party is needed for a just adjudication, it is *not* feasible to join them, and the court determines that in equity and good conscience the action should be dismissed rather than proceed in their absence. See Gildon v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc., 158 Wn.2d 483, 494-95, 145 P.3d 1196 (2006). Moreover, ESA's argument in its petition is limited to CR 19 and does not address why CR 19 applies even though RCW 59.12.060 expressly governs necessary and indispensable parties in forcible entry and detainer actions. RCW 59.12.060 specifically provides that persons who enter the premises after the commencement of the action "shall be bound by the judgment the same as if they had been made parties to the action" and includes a special rule of nonjoinder that "[n]o person other than the tenant of the premises, and subtenant, if there be one, in the actual occupation of the premises when the complaint is filed, need be made parties defendant in any proceeding under this chapter, nor shall any proceeding abate, nor the plaintiff be nonsuited, for the

nonjoinder of any person who might have been made a party defendant." RCW 59.12.060 (emphasis added). The application of RCW 59.12.060, the interplay of RCW 59.12.060 and CR 19, if any, and any related due process issues have never been briefed by either party. ESA's arguments are inconsistent and incomplete, and it is not clear what ESA wants this Court to address or hold. Additionally, these issues may not ultimately be pertinent on remand as the record does not reflect the current status of the premises and when any current occupant came into possession of the unit.

The Court of Appeals simply did not err by not determining whether any current occupant is a necessary and/or indispensable party under CR 19 notwithstanding when they came into possession of the unit as this issue and necessarily related ones have not been raised at the trial level, decided by the trial court, or sufficiently developed factually or legally. That the Court of Appeals chose not to issue an advisory opinion on how the rules in RCW 59.12.060 and CR 19 might play out under

particular facts is not "'an issue of substantial public interest" that warrants this Court's review. Pet. for Review at 15 (quoting RAP 13.4(b)(4)). The Court of Appeals' approach is entirely consistent with how Washington courts generally review decisions of the lower court and decline to review matters on which the trial court did not rule, especially where the issues may never be pertinent in the case and have not been adequately briefed or otherwise developed. *See* RAP 2.4(a); *Drummond*, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 457-58; *Smith*, 143 Wn. App. at 909.

B. This Court should not grant review to issue an advisory opinion on ill-defined issues that have not been sufficiently developed and can be raised in the lower court.

Issues related to any potentially necessary party on remand are best addressed by the trial court in the first instance. The issues are presently theoretical and academic, and this Court has long held that it will not render advisory opinions or pronouncements on speculative or abstract questions. *See Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 418, 879 P.2d 920 (1994). This Court should especially decline to grant review to render an advisory opinion here where the issues are ill-defined, insufficiently briefed, and have not been developed factually or legally through the lower courts. See Lakeside Indus., Inc. v. Washington State Dep't of Revenue, 524 P.3d 639, 645 (Wash. 2023) ("Advisory opinions should be issued 'only on those rare occasions where the interest of the public in the resolution of an issue is overwhelming and where the issue has been adequately briefed and argued."") (quoting To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 144 Wn.2d 403, 416, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001)); Washington State Com. Passenger Fishing Vessel Ass'n v. Tollefson, 87 Wn.2d 417, 419, 553 P.2d 113 (1976) (declining to issue an advisory opinion on a question that was not adequately briefed and vigorously argued). Ultimately, ESA's request for review is premature; any issues related to necessary parties that the Court of Appeals did not reach in its guidance can be raised and addressed by the trial court on remand if they in fact arise.

IV. Conclusion

For these reasons, this Court should deny ESA's Petition for Review.

This document contains 2,388 words, excluding the parts

of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.